1948

Herbert Wolfe, Shirley Wolfe, Elliott Wolfe, Kayla Wolfe, and Merrill Strong under Wolfe's Department Store v. Sarah White and James L. White : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arises from plaintiffs' claim that defendants breached certain terms of a written lease agreement under which defendants leased to plaintiffs property situated in the business district of Salt Lake City, Utah. Since the case below was disposed of upon general demurrer, we shall for the convenience of the court set forth the lease, the complaint, amendments thereto and exhibits verbatim.

The plaintiffs and appellants are the lessees, and the defendants and respondents are the lessors but hereafter will be designated merely as plaintiffs and defendants.

The lease is attached to the complaint as Exhibit "A," (R. 8), and reads as follows:

## EXHIBIT "A"

## L E A S E

THIS INDENTURE OF LEASE made and executed at Salt Lake City, Utah, on the 19th day of February, 1945, by and between SARAH WHITE, owner of the premises hereinafter described, and JAMES L. WHITE, her husband, of Salt Lake City, Utah, hereinafter referred to as "Lessors," and HUBERT WOLFE, SHIRLEY WOLFE, his wife, ELLIOTT WOLFE, KAYLA WOLFE and MERRILL STRONG, co-partners, all of Salt Lake City, Utah, doing business in Salt Lake City, Utah, under the firm name and style of "Wolfe's Department Store," which co-partnership is also bound in this lease as

"Wolfe's Department Store," a copartnership, by HUBERT WOLFE, managing partner, hereinafter referred to as "Lessees,"

### W I T N E S S E T H:

That said parties do mutually covenant, grant and agree to and with each other as follows:

#### (1)

Lessors do hereby grant, lease and demise unto the Lessees, for a term to commence on the 7th day of March, 1945, and to end on the 31st day of May, 1956, the following described premises located in Salt Lake City, Utah, to-wit:

The one-story building, basement and balcony, commonly designated as 248-256 South State Street, having dimensions of approximately 78 feet 3 inches on State Street, by 123 feet 6 inches in depth.

together with the use of the right-of-way immediately south of the Keeley store at 260 South State Street, and together with the use of the loading platform in the rear of the premises herein leased, it being understood that the buildings and parking space West of said loading platform are now leased to and are being used by Keeley's Incorporated and other tenants, who have the exclusive right to use said parking space. Said premises are to be occupied for the conduct of a mercantile business, which will not compete or conflict with the business now being conducted by Keeley's Incorporated at 260 South State Street.

(2)

The Lessees shall pay to the Lessors as rent for said premises during the term thereof as follows:

The total sum of Eighty Thousand One Hundred Thirty Dollars (\$80,130.00), payable in monthly installments of Five Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$550.00) each for the months commencing March 7, 1945 to June 6, 1946, a period of fifteen (15) months, the sum of Four Hundred Eighty Dollars (\$480.00) for the period commencing June 7th, 1946, and ending June 30th, 1946, and Six Hundred Dollars (\$600.00) per month for the nine years and eleven months period commencing July 1st, 1946 and ending May 31st, 1956, each in advance on the first day of each and every month during said period.

(3)

The rental for the last ten year term of this lease is fixed at Six Hundred Dollars (\$600.00) per month, upon the express condition that the Lessees will, and they hereby agree to, at their own expense, make permanent improvements to the building herein leased, including the installation of a first-class front therein, which improvements shall cost not less, but may cost more than, Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00). Said Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) shall not include the cost of trade fixtures, or any other removable fixtures, but shall include only the cost of permanent improvements to the building. If it should develop that necessary permanent improvements can be made for less than Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00), then the rent for the last ten year term of this lease shall be increased Ten Dollars

(\$10.00) per month, or fraction thereof, for every thousand dollars, or fraction thereof, that the permanent improvements cost less than Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00), and for the purpose of determining the fact, Lessees agree at the completion of said permanent improvements to furnish Lessors with an itemized statement of the cost of permanent improvements made as aforesaid. The said permanent improvements are to be commenced on or before June 7th, 1946, or as soon thereafter as Government restrictions will permit. Rental shall be paid during the time said improvements are being made. All such permanent improvements and construction shall be completed free and clear of all liens and claims of contractors, sub-contractors, mechanics, laborers, material men and other persons having similar claims. All such permanent improvements shall upon installation become part of the realty and shall be surrendered to the Lessors in good order and condition as when constructed, reasonable wear and tear and damage by fire or other casualty excepted. After said permanent improvements are made, it is agreed that further structural changes shall not be made to said premises by the Lessees, without first obtaining the written consent of the Lessors, which consent Lessors covenant will not unreasonably be withheld.

(4)

Lessees shall also pay all charges for light, heat, electricity, gas and water consumed upon the demised premises during the term of this lease.

(5)

It is understood and agreed that the premises herein leased are presently leased to Daniel Stew-



art, doing business as "Stewart Novelty Company," until June 6, 1946, at Five Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$550.00) per month, and that this lease is made subject to that lease. It is further agreed that the Lessors shall collect the rents from Stewart Novelty Company for the term ending June 6, 1946, and providing the said rents are paid by Stewart Novelty Company, it is agreed that the Lessees will have no further obligation under this lease for the term ending June 6, 1946, and likewise will not be entitled to the possession of said premises for said term. If Stewart Novelty defaults in the payment of rent, however, then the responsibility of the Lessees for the term ending June 6, 1946 will commence, and in case of such default the Lessees agree to pay said rental in accordance with the terms hereof, and in such event will be entitled to all of the Lessors' rights and remedies against Stewart Novelty Company by reason of said default.

(6)

In consideration of the rental herein fixed, the Lessees agree to and do hereby accept said premises in the condition and state of repair they are now in, and *for the last ten years of this lease*, all improvements, upkeep and repairs, of every kind and nature whatsoever, regardless of the extent thereof and whether the same be ordinary or extraordinary, and regardless of how the same may be necessitated, except as hereinafter stated, including repair and upkeep of the heating plant and replacement of all glass, including plate glass broken, are to be made at the expense of the Lessees. If plate glass insurance is carried, it shall be carried at the expense of the Lessees.

(7)

Lessees agree that at the expiration of the term of this lease they will yield and deliver up the said demised premises to the Lessors, in as good order and condition as the same will be after the initial permanent improvements above contemplated are completed, reasonable use and wear thereof and damage by the elements excepted. Lessees agree to occupy said premises in a lawful manner and to keep the water pipes and their connections and sewage pipes and their connections upon said premises at all times in good condition and state of repair.

(8)

For the entire term of this lease the Lessors shall have the obligation to keep the roof of the leased premises in good condition and repair; to pay general taxes and lighting assessments levied against said property, all fire insurance premiums, and premiums on any other insurance the owner elects to carry.

(9)

Lessees covenant and agree not to assign, transfer, hypothecate or mortgage this lease, or any interest therein, without first obtaining the written consent of the Lessors, which consent Lessors covenant will not unreasonably be withheld. If such consent is given by the Lessors, it is understood and agreed that the Lessees shall continue to remain liable under all the terms, covenants and conditions of this lease.

(10)

If the rent above reserved, or any part thereof, shall be unpaid on the date whereon the same is due and payable, and for fifteen days thereafter, or if default shall be made in any of the covenants herein contained to be kept by the Lessees, their heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, it shall and may be lawful for the said Lessors, their heirs, executors, administrators, agents, attorneys or assigns, to take possession of the demised premises, and every part thereof, either with or without legal process, and without notice to quit to re-enter and the same again to repossess and enjoy as in their first and former estate.

(11)

Lessors shall not be liable for any damage occasioned by failure to keep said premises in repair and shall not be liable for any damage done, caused or occasioned by or from plumbing, gas, water, steam or other pipes, or the bursting, leaking or running of any washstand, tank, water closet or waste pipe, in, upon or about said building or premises, nor from any damage occasioned by water arising from acts or neglect of neighboring tenants.

(12)

If Lessees shall abandon or vacate said premises, the same shall be re-let by the Lessors for such rent and upon such terms as Lessors shall see fit, and if a sufficient sum shall not be thus realized, after paying the expenses of such re-letting and collecting to satisfy the rent hereby reserved, the Lessees agree to pay and satisfy all deficiency.

(13)

Lessees agree that if the estate created hereby shall be taken upon execution or any other process of law, or if the Lessees shall be declared bankrupt or insolvent, or any receiver be appointed for the business and property of the Lessees and be not discharged within 60 days, or if any assignment shall be made of the Lessees' property for the benefit of creditors, or if Lessees shall apply for reorganization or any extension agreement with their creditors under any federal or state law now in force or hereafter enacted, then and in that event Lessors shall have the option of terminating this lease, or in their discretion, or exercising any and all other remedies to which they may be entitled as a matter of law.

(14)

It is agreed that the rent and charges above reserved shall be a first lien on the furniture, fixtures and personal property of the Lessees, and that said property shall not be removed from said premises until the rent and other charges are fully paid.

(15)

No waiver of any breach of any covenant, condition or stipulation herein contained shall be taken to be a waiver of any succeeding breach thereof, and the acceptance of rent during any period in which the Lessees may be in default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such default.

(16)

The Lessors covenant and agree that the Lessees upon paying the rental herein provided and

performing all of the covenants and agreements herein contained, shall and may in accordance herewith peacefully and quietly have, hold and enjoy said demised premises during the term hereof.

## (17)

If Lessors commence and successfully prosecute any action against the Lessees to protect or enforce any of Lessors' right hereunder, or if Lessors defend successfully in any action or proceeding by the Lessees against the Lessors, the Lessees will pay to Lessors a reasonable attorney's fee in each such action, and Lessees shall likewise receive a reasonable attorney's fee if they are successful in each such action.

## (18)

In the event that the demised premises shall be destroyed by fire or the elements before or after the commencement of the term herein specified, this lease shall wholly cease and terminate. In the event that said premises are rendered untenable by fire or the elements, Lessors agree to repair and restore said premises with reasonable dispatch. In case of such repairs the rent due hereunder shall abate during the making of the same.

## (19)

That the Lessees, their heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, shall have the right and option to lease said premises for a further term of ten years, commencing June 1st, 1956, on the same terms and conditions as apply to the period of the present lease, commencing June 7th, 1946,

except for rental and except that during said extended period Lessees shall not be obligated to make permanent improvements provided in paragraph 3 hereof. Said right and option to re-lease shall be exercised by the Lessees by serving written notice upon the Lessors, their heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, at least six months prior to May 31st, 1956, which notice shall be to the effect that said Lessees do then exercise said option. If such written notice is not served by the Lessees upon the Lessors within the time and in the manner stated, then said option shall expire. If said notice is served within the time and in the manner in this paragraph stated, the rental for the extended term shall then be fixed by agreement between the parties at a minimum of Six Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$650.00) per month, and at a maximum of Eight Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$850.00) per month, said determination to be made in accordance with the then going rate of rental and business conditions as they then exist. If and after said option is exercised by the Lessees, and if the parties cannot then agree on a rental between said minimum and maximum, then each shall appoint an arbitrator and the two so appointed shall choose a third and a majority of the three shall fix the monthly rental to be paid by the Lessees to the Lessors between the minimum and maximum herein stated, and their decision shall be binding upon the parties hereto.

(20)

No remedy herein conferred upon the Lessors shall be considered exclusive of any other remedy, but the same shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given

hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the said Lessors and Lessees have hereunto executed this agreement the day and year first hereinabove written.

(Signed by the parties)

From the terms of the lease it will be noted that the defendants leased to the plaintiffs the building at 248-256 South State Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, which is now known as "Wolfe's Sportsman's Headquarters."

While the lease is dated February 19, 1945, the plaintiffs by the provisions of paragraph 5 were not, upon the occurrence of certain contingencies which did occur, to have any rights of possession or any obligations under the lease until June 7, 1946, some 15 months later than its date. On the date of the lease the premises were occupied by the Stewart Novelty Company under a lease ending June 6, 1946, and if the Stewart Novelty Company paid their lease rental, then the plaintiffs here were not to have any rights of possession or obligations under their lease until June 7, 1946. The Stewart Novelty Company paid its rent, and so plaintiffs did not become entitled to the possession of the leased premises and had no obligations under the lease until June 7, 1946, and then for a term of ten years ending May 31st, 1956, designated in the lease as the last ten years. It is important to bear these facts in mind. For the 15 months covered by the lease preceding June 7, 1946, the plaintiffs had

neither rights nor obligations, but defendants did have obligations.

In paragraph 6 of the lease the plaintiffs "agree to and do hereby accept said premises in the condition and state of repair they are now in," but under paragraph 8 the defendants who drew the lease made the following covenant: "For the entire term of this lease the Lessors shall have the obligation to keep the roof of the leased premises in good condition and repair." In other words, the plaintiffs only conditionally accepted the premises in the condition and state of repair they were in on February 19, 1945; that acceptance was modified, conditioned and limited by the express agreement of the defendants that plaintiffs had no responsibility for the roof and that defendants alone assumed that responsibility for the entire term of the lease. The plaintiffs accepted the premises 15 months before they ever went into possession only provided the defendants for that 15 months period and for the entire remaining term should keep the roof in good condition and repair.

In paragraph 6 the plaintiffs agreed that after they took possession or for the last 10 years of the lease they would make all improvements, upkeep and repairs, only "except as hereinafter stated," the exception being the roof as specified in paragraph 8. The plaintiffs even for the last 10 years of the lease, the period of their actual tenancy, had no obligations, ordinary or extraordinary, with respect to the roof. The defendants assumed and undertook the entire responsibility for the



roof both for the last 10 years and also for the earlier 15 months period when the plaintiffs had no rights or obligations under the lease or with reference to the premises. Under the lease the plaintiffs never had any obligation with reference to the roof and they accepted the premises only upon and subject to the aforesaid express liability of defendants for the roof. This further is made clear by the provisions of paragraph 3 wherein it is stipulated that for the last 10 years the rental of \$600.00 per month has been agreed upon if the plaintiffs will make certain permanent improvements including the installation of a first-class front which improvements shall cost not less than \$10,000.00. These improvements were to be commenced on or before June 7, 1946, (the beginning of plaintiffs' occupancy), and after they were completed the lease expressly forbade the plaintiffs from making any further structural changes on the premises without the consent of the defendants. Not only did the lease require the defendants to keep the roof in good condition for the entire term but it forbade the plaintiffs from making structural changes of any kind after the initial permanent improvements had been completed.

The plaintiffs in October of 1945, (R. 37), after the lease was signed but before they were entitled to possession conferred with defendant James L. White about the condition of the roof and Mr. White assured the plaintiff, Hubert Wolfe, that the roof had been put in good condition and that it was in excellent shape. The plaintiffs in preparation for their occupancy and to fulfill

the terms of the lease to make permanent improvements in the store front employed Mr. A. B. Paulson, a competent and qualified architect, (R. 3) who in turn applied to Mr. Tipton, Superintendent of the Bureau of Mechanical Inspection of Salt Lake City, for a permit to remodel the front of the leased property. Mr. Tipton, Exhibit "B," (R. 17), refused to grant the permit because the roof of the building was unsafe. Mr. Tipton stated that he had notified Mr. James L. White of this condition as early as January 22, 1946. Under date of April 29, 1946, Mr. Tipton also wrote to plaintiff, Hubert Wolfe, informing him that continued occupancy of the building would not be permitted until the unsafe conditions with reference to the roof were remedied. Exhibit "C," (R. 18)

The plaintiffs conferred with the defendants who refused to do anything with reference to the roof. Therefore, instead of the plaintiffs being able to take possession and occupy the premises on June 7, 1946, they were denied occupancy until the roof was fixed, and they were forced, because of the refusal of the defendants to do so, to correct the defective conditions in the roof to meet the requirements of the public officials and the Ordinances of Salt Lake City. Even after plaintiffs had commenced work on the roof the work was further delayed at the request of the defendant, James L. White, who asked the plaintiffs to suspend work so that he could have his own inspection made, and plaintiffs again told defendant White that it was satisfactory with them for him to make the roof safe in any manner that was ac-

ceptable to the city and at as little expense as it was possible for him to incur. (R. 33) This last delay at the request of the defendant White delayed the work until July 31, 1946, so that by reason of all of the circumstances instead of the plaintiffs being able to occupy the premises on June 7, 1946, actually they were not able to go into occupancy of their leased premises until November 9, 1946. (R. 19)

The plaintiffs in order to occupy their leased property at all were compelled to fix the roof themselves and bring this action against the defendants for defendants' refusal to comply with the terms of the lease.

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