1948

Herbert Wolfe, Shirley Wolfe, Elliott Wolfe, Kayla Wolfe, and Merrill Strong under Wolfe's Department Store v. Sarah White and James L. White : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

“This change in municipal policy has taken place since execution of the lease between these parties and the construction of the lease may be determined by extrinsic conditions that existed at the time of its execution.

. . .

“It is not to be assumed therefore that the comprehensive phrases of the lease of all of which were quite germane and appropriate to existing conditions, were intended to apply to future events not then in contemplation.

. . .

“The language of this lease, construed in the light of contemporaneous regulations, usages and customs, seems to require the conclusion that it was not the purpose of the parties to subject the tenant to an expense caused wholly by extraordinary and unforeseen building alterations made necessary *by a subsequent and radical change in the policy of the municipal government.*” (Italics ours.)

There is no similarity between the facts in that case and those in the case at bar.

As we have shown, Lessors had no obligation to heed letters of the Building Inspector. Lessors' liability must depend upon the lease itself, and the existence of a Building Code and the fact that an application was made to the Building Inspector can neither add to nor detract from the Lessors' obligation under the lease. Therefore, all the allegations as to what the Building Code requires and as to what is contained in the letters of the Building Inspector as to “design” or “erection” and as to what Lessees claim they did to comply with his suggestions or requirements are wholly irrelevant.

But even if under some conditions Lessors might have been obligated to pay heed to the Building Inspector, the allegations of the complaint show affirmatively that no such obligation was imposed on the Lessors in this case. Said Code (made a part of plaintiffs' complaint) among other things provides:

(a) No person shall repair any building without a permit from the Building Inspector upon application therefor.

(b) The Building Inspector shall be furnished with plans and specifications of the work to be done, except that in case of minor repairs the Inspector may issue a permit without such plans and specifications. (parenthetically may we remind the court that the Building Inspector stated in his letter to Lessees of March 21, 1946, "a plan showing your proposal will be expected.")

(c) The work must be done according to the Building Code (Building Code Section 201).

(d) The Building Inspector is authorized to enforce the Building Code.

(e) Whenever any building is used or occupied contrary to the provisions of the Building Code, the Building Inspector shall *order such use or occupancy discontinued* by notice served on any person using the same, and the building shall be vacated *within ten days after the service of such notice*. Provided that *in case of an emergency*:

(f) Any building if found to be dangerous to person or property or *unsafe* for the purposes for which it is being used *may be condemned*. The Building Inspector may order portions of the structure exposed for inspection and if the building is found to be unsafe, the Building Inspector shall serve notice in writing on the owner, reputed owner or person in charge *setting forth what must be done to make such building safe*. The person receiving such notice must proceed within forty-eight hours thereafter to make the changes, repairs or alterations *set out in such notice*.

(g) Service of notice in writing means "personal service" on the Lessor if within the city limits. (Section 301 Building Code.)

The allegations in plaintiffs' complaint show affirmatively that there was no compliance with the Building Code which could possibly impose any responsibility on Lessors:

(a) Because the notice alleged to have been given Lessors was not personally served upon or even addressed to them.

(b) The notice alleged to have been given relates to structural conditions and not to the roof.

(c) Said notice does not "*set forth what must be done*" by way of repairs to the roof.

Therefore, taking all the allegations of the complaint, there is no basis for any liability on the Lessors, even if the lease contemplated that Lessors should com-

ply with the Building Code, (which we deny) for the proper proceedings were not observed to impose such or any responsibility.

LESSEES' SEEK TO RECOVER FOR STRUCTURAL IMPROVEMENTS

Counsel concede, and paragraph 3 of the lease provides, that Lessees were obligated to make certain unspecified permanent improvements (including a first-class front) to cost not less than \$10,000.00 and that no further "*structural improvements*" were to be made without Lessors' consent. It was immaterial to Lessors how much Lessees might determine to expend in excess of the \$10,000.00 and, therefore, if they saw fit to substitute a new steel roof structure for the old one constructed of wood in making said "permanent improvements," how can they expect to recover from Lessors the cost of such roof structure? They needed no other consent or approval of the Lessors to build such new roof structure than is contained in paragraph 3. But, they argue, such "permanent improvements" did not contemplate new roof construction for under the lease the building was to have a *safe* roof structure and one in good condition when Lessees went into possession, and the building of a new roof was a structural improvement outside of and beyond the "*permanent improvements*" required of the lessee. As suggested above the old roof structure had been accepted as of February 19th. Its structural condition then was, and must have been, the same as found by the Building Inspector, for

his criticism was as to “the *design* and as to the *erection*” of the trusses. We have also shown by the authorities that our obligation “to keep the roof in good condition and repair” did not obligate us to “*put*” or “*place*” the roof in any other condition structurally than it was when the Lessees accepted it, or to make the premises tenantable. It should be noted that differing from the Lessors’ restricted covenant to repair, the Lessees’ covenant is in the broadest language. Indeed it is difficult to see how language could have been more effective to impose upon the Lessees the obligation to do extraordinary alterations and repairs. It is evident from a reading of the entire lease that the premises were rented to Lessees “as is” at a reduced rental, with the clear understanding that they needed to be structurally remodeled to fit the needs of Lessees and this remodeling was to be at the expense of the Lessees. It would be patently contrary to the intent of the parties, as shown by the entire lease, to enlarge the Lessors’ covenant beyond its legal meaning, which is that the Lessors were to make only ordinary repairs to the roof, such as is done by a roofer, as distinguished from a structural steel worker. It is made plain by the bill of particulars that the new steel roof structure enabled the Lessees to create a store building with an eighty-foot span without a post in it. This might well be a very advantageous thing to do for a Lessee with a ten-year lease with an option of ten additional years, at a low rental. In fact, paragraph 3 of the lease fixes the low rental of \$600.00 per month “upon the express condition” that

the expensive permanent improvements will be made; and said paragraph 3 further provides that "Rental shall be paid during the time said improvements are being made," which further indicates that Lessees took the building as it stood. Lessees should not be permitted to compel the Lessors to pay for such structural alterations, when there was clearly no intention of the parties, as shown by the lease, that the lessors were supposed to bear any such expense.

To accept counsel's contention that the construction of the new steel roof structure was outside of the "permanent improvements" Lessees were obligated to make, puts the Lessees into an altogether untenable position, for they concede that "further *structural improvements*" (other than the permanent improvements to cost \$10,000.00 or more) could not be made without Lessors' consent; that they did not have such consent, yet they are seeking reimbursement for doing what confessedly they had no right to do. They do not allege that the Building Inspector required them to remove the wooden roof structure or to substitute one of steel, or that he required any particular or specified work to be done. It was the Lessees who decided what sort of improvement, alteration or change of the roof structure they would seek to have the Lessors pay for, and they proceeded to do this structural work, which they say was in addition to the "*permanent improvements*," without getting Lessors' consent, and therefore, without any right to do it, and they now seek to have Lessors pay for the new roof structure under Lessors' obliga-

tion to “*keep* the old roof in good condition and repair.” This argument of Lessees defeats itself. They offer another equally illogical reason why Lessors should pay for the new steel roof structure. They cite authority that if the Lessor fails to keep his covenant to repair, Lessee may make such repairs and recover the cost from the landlord or charge it against the rent, and yet they admit that the work the Lessees performed and for which they are seeking to recover was not roof “*repairs*” under any definition of that word, but was *structural* improvement of the building, which they either have agreed to make or had no legal right to make without Lessors’ consent, which consent they did not have, and they admit that they continued to pay the rent.

THE CLAIMED BREACH OF COVENANT OF QUIET ENJOYMENT

The letters of the Building Inspector do not, as appellants allege, refuse “to allow the leased premises to be occupied at all until the roof is made safe;” (Br., p. 19) nor do they impose any obligation whatever on the Lessors or the Lessees. The Building Inspector went no further than to say that it was “mandatory upon” him

“to refuse to allow continued occupancy of this structure *beyond the summer season* for fear of heavy snow loading, which might cause total beam and truss failure and consequent collapse of the *roof structure,*”

and this remark was not within his authority under the Building Code. That Code (Section 301, which is made

a part of the complaint, Br., p. 20) provides that "*in the event of an emergency*" when a building is "*dangerous to person or property or unsafe for the purpose for which it is being used,*" it may be *condemned*, but before condemnation, the Building Inspector shall serve notice of "*what is to be done*" and that

"The person receiving such notice must commence within *forty-eight hours* to make the changes, repairs, or alterations *set out in said notice* and shall proceed diligently with such work *or demolish the building.*"

When there is no emergency and the building is being used contrary to the Building Code, The Building Inspector may order his requirements complied with *within ten days or that the building be vacated*. The letter of the Building Inspector attached to the complaint does not come within any of said provisions of the Code, and he could not refuse to permit the building to be occupied "*beyond this summer season*" (whatever these words mean) because he had no such authority to make such an order. He is required to conform to the Code in making his directives and his letters show that he did not do so. It is idle for counsel to argue that the Building Inspector's mere statement as to what was wrong with the building without setting forth "*what must be done*" was sufficient to impose the obligation on anyone to destroy the wooden structure and construct one of steel.

It is upon the provisions of the Building Code and upon the letters of the Building Inspector that Lessees

rely for their claim that Lessors breached their *covenant to quiet enjoyment*, that is to say, for Lessees claim that they were *excluded* from the possession of the premises for there is no other basis for their "*exclusion*" alleged in the complaint. Who was in possession immediately after June 7, 1946? Who was in possession when Lessees applied for the permit and when they tore off the old roof structure and constructed the steel roof structure? By some kind of left-handed logic, Lessees seem to claim that even during the time they were constructing the steel roof structure they were not in possession of the premises, even though they confirmed their possession by the payment of rent, which they are now seeking to recover back. So under the facts as appear from the complaint itself, there was no exclusion from the premises, nor any eviction. Plaintiffs rely upon *Haywood v. Ogden Motor Company*, 71 Utah 417, to support their contention that Lessors breached their covenant of quiet enjoyment, (Br., pp. 49-50) but in that case the Lessors remained in *actual possession* of the premises making certain repairs during part of the first month when Lessees were entitled to possession and the court held that in thus depriving Lessees of possession during such period they committed a trespass, and that Lessees had the right to counterclaim against an action for rent, for the period possession was denied them. No claim of trespass can be made against Lessors in this case, because Lessors were never in possession at any time subsequent to February 19, 1945, or even before while the

Stewart Novelty Company's lease was in effect. Lessees must, as a matter of law, base their claim of Lessors' breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment on *eviction, either actual or constructive*, for as stated by our court in the *Heywood* case:

“It is also a general rule of law that a breach of covenant for quiet enjoyment cannot occur without an eviction actual or constructive.”

Now, of course, Lessees cannot claim there was any *actual* eviction and the authorities hold without dissent that there can be no constructive eviction unless the tenant abandons the premises and that such abandonment is necessary before the Lessee can defend against a claim for the rental. *32 Am. Jur.*, pp. 231, 236, 391-2, and cases cited. See also *Stone v. Sullivan*, (Mass.), 15 N. E. (2) 476; 116 A. L. R. 1223.

Our own court in *Warm Springs Co. v. Salt Lake City*, 50 Utah 58, 165 Pac. 788, recognizes this doctrine.

Lessees went into possession according to the lease and they have been in possession ever since, and there was, and could be, no breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment, for the Building Inspector did not attempt by anything set forth in his letters or otherwise to interfere with Lessees' possession on June 7, 1946, or at any other time, nor did he order them to vacate, and certainly no one else interfered with them. The contention of counsel with respect to this matter is wholly without merit.

LESSOR EXEMPT FROM LIABILITY

Even if by any possible construction of the allegations of the complaint, the covenant of the Lessors to "keep the roof in good condition and repair" was breached (and we say no such construction can be placed upon them), nevertheless the Lessors are not liable. Paragraph eleven of the lease provides:

"Lessors shall not be liable for any damage occasioned by failure to keep said premises in repair and shall not be liable for any damage done, caused or occasioned by or from plumbing, gas, water, steam or other pipes, or the bursting, leaking or running of any washstand, tank, water closet or waste pipe, in, upon or about said building or premises, nor from any damage occasioned by water arising from acts or neglect of neighboring tenants."

This provision can only mean that the parties agreed that the Lessors were absolved from liability for failure to fulfill the only obligation imposed upon them, to-wit, to "keep the roof in good condition and repair." It can not possibly relate to *Lessees'* failure to make repairs, because, without such provision, the *Lessor* could not be liable for the *Lessees'* breach. The provision must be given its plain and obvious meaning. It is tantamount to a *covenant not to sue*, and there is no legal reason preventing the parties from entering into the stipulation above quoted.

In *Buchanan v. Tessler*, (Ga.) 148 S. E. 614, the lease provided:

“The Lessee hereby releases Lessor from any and all damage to both person and property and will hold the Lessor harmless from all such damages during the term of this lease.”

A subsequent paragraph provided:

“It is agreed the Lessor shall be called on to make no repairs of any nature whatsoever during the term of this lease, *except repairs to the roof.*”

It was held that Lessor was not liable for damages by reason of the roof becoming out of repair.

In *Gralnick v. Magid*, (Mo.) 238 S. W. 132, the lease provided:

“Lessor agrees to do repairing.”

It also contained the provision:

“Said Lessor shall not be liable to said Lessee or agents, guests or employees for any damage caused to his or their person or property by water, rain, snow, ice, sleet, fire, storms and accidents, or by breakage, stoppage or leakage of water, gas, heating and sewer pipes upon, about or adjacent to said premises.”

The court uses this language:

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